
Please note:  Certain or all items on this agenda may be recorded. 

 
Agenda compiled by: 
Mike Earle 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
Tel: 22 43209 
 

 
 

 
Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Richard Mills 
Tel: 24 74557 
 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ENVIRONMENT AND NEIGHBOURHOODS) 
 

 
Call-In meeting to be held in Committee Room 1, Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on 

Tuesday, 23rd November, 2010 at 12.30 pm 
 

N.B No Pre-Meeting 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
B Anderson (Chair) - Adel and 

Wharfedale; 

A Barker - Horsforth; 

G Driver - Middleton Park; 

P Ewens - Hyde Park and 
Woodhouse; 

R Grahame - Burmantofts and 
Richmond Hill; 

G Hyde - Killingbeck and 
Seacroft; 

M Iqbal - City and Hunslet; 

J Marjoram - Calverley and 
Farsley; 

L Mulherin - Ardsley and Robin 
Hood; 

R Procter - Harewood; 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded.) 
 
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Chief 
Democratic Services Officer at least 24 hours 
before the meeting.) 
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows: 

 

 



 

 
C 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration. 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To declare any personal / prejudicial interests for 
the purpose of Section 81 (3) of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and paragraphs 8 to 12 of 
the Members Code of Conduct. 
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND 
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES 
 
To receive any apologies for absence and 
notification of substitutes. 
 

 

6   
 

  CALL - IN OF DECISION - BRIEFING PAPER 
 
To receive and consider the attached report of the 
Head of Scrutiny and Member Development. 
 

1 - 4 

7   
 

  CALL - IN - THE FUTURE OF COUNCIL 
HOUSING 
 
In accordance with Scrutiny Board Procedure 
Rules, to review the attached decision of the 
Executive Board taken on 3rd November 2010 in 
relation to the attached report of the Director of 
Environment and Neighbourhoods entitled ‘The 
Future of Council Housing’. 
 

5 - 26 

8   
 

  OUTCOME OF CALL - IN 
 
In accordance with Scrutiny Board Procedure 
Rules, to consider the Board’s formal conclusions 
and recommendation(s) arising from the 
consideration of the called-in decision. 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Environment & Neighbourhoods) 
 
Date:  23rd November 2010 
 
Subject:  CALL- IN OF DECISION – BRIEFING PAPER 
 

        
 
 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

1.1 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, a decision of the Executive Board has 
been Called In.1  The background papers to this particular decision are set out as a 
separate agenda item and appropriate witnesses have been invited to give supporting 
evidence. 

 
1.2 This report advises the Scrutiny Board (Environment & Neighbourhoods) on the 

procedural aspects of Calling In the decision. 
 
1.3 The Board is advised that the Call In is specific to the report considered by the 

Executive Board and issues outside of this decision, including other related decisions, 
may not be considered as part of the Board’s decision regarding the outcome of the 
Call-In. 

 
2.0 REVIEWING THE DECISION 
 
2.1 The process of reviewing the decision is as follows: 
 

• Members who have requested the Call-In invited to explain their concern/reason 
for Call-In request. 

 

• Relevant Executive Member/Officer(s) asked to explain decision. 
 

• Further questioning from the Board as appropriate. 
 

                                                
1
 Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules Paragraph 21 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: P N Marrington  
Tel: 39 51151 

Agenda Item 6

Page 1



 
 
OPTIONS AVAILABLE TO THE BOARD 
 

3.1 Having reviewed the decision, the Scrutiny Board will need to agree what action it 
wishes to take.  In doing so, it may pursue one of three courses of action as set out 
below: 

 
 Option 1- Release the decision for implementation 
 
3.2 Having reviewed this decision, the Scrutiny Board may decide to release it for 

implementation.  If the Scrutiny Board chooses this option, the decision will be 
immediately released for implementation and the decision may not be Called In again. 

 
Option 2  - Recommend that the decision be reconsidered. 

 
3.3 The Scrutiny Board may decide to recommend to the decision maker that the decision 

be reconsidered.  If the Scrutiny Board chooses this option a report will be submitted 
to the Executive Board.  

 
3.4 In the case of an Executive Board decision, the report of the Scrutiny Board will be 

presented to the next available meeting. The Executive Board will reconsider its 
decision and will publish the outcome of its deliberations within the minutes of the 
meeting.  The decision may not be Called In again whether or not it is varied. 

 
 

Option 3 - Recommend that the decision be reconsidered and refer the matter to full 
Council if recommendation not accepted. 

 
 
3.5 This course of action would only apply if the Scrutiny Board determined that a 

decision fell outside the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework and this 
determination were confirmed by the Council’s Section 151 Officer (in relation to the 
budget) or Monitoring Officer (in relation to other policies). 

 
3.6 If, at the conclusion of this meeting, the Scrutiny Board forms an initial determination 

that the decision in question should be challenged on the basis of contravening the 
Budget and Policy Framework, then confirmation will subsequently be sought from the 
appropriate statutory officer.   

 
3.7 Should the statutory officer support the Scrutiny Board’s determination, then the 

report of the Scrutiny Board will be presented in the same manner as for Option 2.  If 
the decision maker accepts the recommendation of the Scrutiny Board in these 
circumstances, then the revised decision will be published in the same manner as for 
Option 2 and the decision may not be Called In again.  If, however, the decision 
maker does not accept the recommendation of the Scrutiny Board, then the matter will 
be referred to full Council for final decision.  Decisions of full Council may not be 
Called In. 

 
3.8 Should the appropriate statutory officer not confirm that the decision contravenes the 

Budget and Policy Framework, then the report of the Scrutiny Board would normally 
be progressed as for Option 2 (i.e. presented as a recommendation to the decision 
taker) but with no recourse to full Council in the event that the decision is not varied.  
As with Option 2, no further Call-In of the decision would be possible. 

 

Page 2



3.9 However, the Scrutiny Board may resolve that, if the statutory officer does not confirm 
contravention of the Budget and Policy Framework, then it should be released for 
implementation in accordance with Option 1. 

 
 
4.0       FAILURE TO AGREE ONE OF THE ABOVE OPTIONS 

 
4.1 If the Scrutiny Board, for any reason, does not agree one of the above courses of 

action at this meeting, then Option 1 will be adopted by default, i.e. the decision will 
be released for implementation with no further recourse to Call-In. 

 
 
5.0       FORMULATING THE BOARD’S REPORT 
 
5.1 If the Scrutiny Board decides to release the decision for implementation (i.e. Option 

1), then the Scrutiny Support Unit will process the necessary notifications and no 
further action is required by the Board.  

 
5.2 If the Scrutiny Board wishes to recommend that the decision be reconsidered (i.e. 

Options 2 or 3), then it will be necessary for the Scrutiny Board to agree a report 
setting out its recommendation together with any supporting commentary.  

 
5.3 Because of the tight timescales within which a decision Call-In must operate, it is 

important that the Scrutiny Board’s report be agreed at the meeting. 
 
5.4 If the Scrutiny Board decides to pursue either of Options 2 or 3, it is proposed that 

there be a short adjournment during which the Chair, in conjunction with the Scrutiny 
Support Unit, should prepare a brief statement proposing the Scrutiny Board’s draft 
recommendations and supporting commentary.  Upon reconvening, the Scrutiny 
Board will be invited to amend/ agree this statement as appropriate (a separate item 
has been included in the agenda for this purpose). 

 
5.5 This statement will then form the basis of the Scrutiny Board’s report (together with 

factual information as to details of the Called In decision, lists of evidence/witnesses 
considered, Members involved in the Call-In process etc). 

 
5.6 The Scrutiny Board is advised that the there is no provision within the Call In 

procedure for the submission of a Minority Report.  
 
 
6.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
6.1 The Scrutiny Board (Environment & Neighbourhoods) is asked to note the contents of 

this report and the procedure as detailed within it. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Environment & Neighbourhoods) 
 
Date:  23rd November 2010 
 
Subject:  Call In – The Future of Council Housing 
  
 

        
 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 This paper presents the background papers to a decision which has been Called In in 

accordance with the Council’s Constitution.1 
 
1.2      Papers are attached as follows: 
 

• Copy of completed Call-In request form 

•   Report of the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods 

• Relevant extract of Executive Board Minutes of 3rd November   
 
 1.3 Appropriate Members and/or officers have been invited to attend the meeting in order          

to explain the decision and respond to questions.  
 
2.0      RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 The Scrutiny Board (Environment & Neighbourhoods) is asked to review this decision 

and to determine what further action it wishes to take. 
 

                                                
1
 Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules Paragraph 21 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  ALL 

 
 

 

 

Originator: P N Marrington 
Tel: 39 51151 

Agenda Item 7

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 7



Page 8



 

Report of the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods 

 
Executive Board          3rd November 2010 
 
Subject:                           The Future of Council Housing 
 
 

        
 
Eligible for Call In                                                 Not Eligible for Call In 
                                                                              (Details contained in the report) 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report sets out the outcomes of the review into the future of council housing. The report shows 
the context within which the review was undertaken and assesses the future investment need of the 
city. Different options were appraised as to how that investment need might be met, concluding that 
none of the options offer a complete solution to the ongoing investment need.  Nevertheless, there 
are opportunities to generate significant efficiencies and improve delivery. The report proposes 
continuing with the three ALMO model but introducing some key reforms in order to tackle 
weaknesses within the current model. The first key reform proposed is the creation of a Strategic 
Governance Board which will ensure that there are single decisions taken on key strategic matters 
affecting all ALMO’s. This Board will also act as a formal link back into the Council for the ALMOs, so 
that they can be better connected to the development of policy and strategy within the Council. The 
second key reform is to create a Shared Service Centre for back office services. This will offer 
significant efficiencies as well as creating better skilled teams within the various disciplines. The 
report assesses these reforms against the option of a reduction to a single ALMO and concludes that 
a three ALMO model with the reforms is the preferred option. 
 
The report also outlines proposals to change the manner in which the ALMOs provision for FRS17 is 
dealt with to bring that process in to line with other Council owned companies, with the effect of 
releasing resources to meet investment needs.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Specific Implications For:  
 

Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 

Originator: John Statham 
 

Tel: x43233 

 

 

 

  

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report) 
  

 

Page 9



 
1.0 Purpose Of This Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 
 

• inform the Executive Board of the conclusion of the Future of Council Housing Review; 

• make recommendations on a preferred model; 

• make recommendations on key reforms. 
 

2.0   Background Information 

2.1 Leeds established six ALMOs in 2003 and submitted a bid to the government for £450m 
additional investment credits to enable the council housing in Leeds to reach the 
government’s decent homes standard.  By late 2004 all six had achieved a two star status 
with the Audit Commission and were eligible to draw down the money.  

 
2.2 Since 2003 the ALMOs have been delivering programmes of capital works and are on 

target to meet the government’s decent homes target by the end of 2010.  By the end of 
2010/11 around £825m will have been spent making Council housing decent. 

 
2.3 In 2006 Leeds reviewed the number of ALMOs in the city and reduced them to three. The 

main drivers for the change were financial viability and reducing stock numbers. That review 
established three financially viable ALMOs that would be able to complete the decency 
programme by the end of 2010/11.  Now that the decency investment programme is coming 
to a close the Council has undertaken another options appraisal to identify a suitable model 
for the future of council housing in the city and this paper sets out the findings and 
recommendations.  

 
3.0.0 Context for the Review 
 
3.1.0 Localism and Customer Aspirations 
 
3.1.1 In 2002, when the Council took the decision to set up ALMOs in the city, the project was 

entitled “Going Local”. This meant having local based delivery organisations which would 
better meet customer need and aspirations. In 2006, when the Council took the decision to 
reduce the number of ALMOs, the project was about “Staying Local”. This was achieved by 
setting up area panels beneath the ALMO management boards to feed in customer 
aspirations and to oversee elements of service delivery. The localisation of service delivery 
has been a success, with customer engagement levels far in excess of where they were 
prior to ALMOs. In looking at the future of council housing in the city it is essential that the 
advances made in relation to tenant engagement and influence are retained. 

 
3.1.2 Customers’ aspirations for the service have grown with the increased responsiveness of 

locality based service delivery. Customers have seen huge investment in their properties 
and improvements in the delivery of services to their homes. As a result of this they aspire 
for continuous improvement in service delivery and a continuity of engagement in decision 
making. This aspiration is in line with the Council’s core values.  

 
3.2.0 Impact of the Proposed HRA Reforms. 
 
3.2.1 The previous government consulted local authorities on the reform of council housing 

finance.  Their preferred option was the introduction of a self financing HRA, whereby the 
HRA subsidy system is dismantled, and the national HRA debt is redistributed amongst 
local authorities based on their ability to service the debt.   

3.2.2 The Executive Board welcomed the proposals, which would bring an end to the current 
subsidy system, whereby rental income is pooled and then re-distributed nationally on an 
annual basis.  Not only does the current system lack transparency but the nature of the 
annual funding arrangements means that councils cannot have any certainty as to the 
impact of subsidy over the forthcoming or future years.  The self financing model proposed 

Page 10



at the time would give authorities more control and certainty over funding, allowing the 
development of medium term financial plans to support robust asset management plans, 
which in turn will support effective works planning and procurement. 

 
3.2.3 In responding to the consultation the government debt settlement figure at the time was 

modelled into the 30 year HRA business plan for the Authority.  Whilst further work is 
required to refine the business plan, the inside subsidy and the self financing position have 
been compared and this shows that over the life of the plan the proposed system would 
bring significant financial benefit to the HRA, enabling greater capital investment.  The new 
government has pledged to end the existing system and has announced it will introduce 
HRA reform.  However, it is not clear at this stage whether or not this will be the same 
scheme as that proposed by the previous government.  The government has indicated it will 
outline more details shortly. 

 
3.3.0 Investment Requirements 

 
3.3.1 The Decent Homes programme will have delivered around £825m of investment into council 

housing in Leeds by 31st March 2011. This is an unprecedented level of investment. At the 
peak of the decent homes programme, the annual investment was £170m. The Council 
stock will move from a position whereby 45% of houses met the government’s decent 
homes standard, to 95% of the stock meeting the standard at 31st March 2011. 

 
3.3.2 A full 30 year investment plan has been developed from April 2011.  The plan assessed 

investment need against three standards – minimum decent homes work, decent homes 
plus (incorporating additional environmental works and some additional tenant aspirations) 
and a Leeds regenerations standard (equivalent to a PFI standard). A comparison of the 
investment required and the projected available resources over 30 years is summarised in 
the table below: 

                 
                  

 Minimum 
Standard 

Decency plus Leeds Regeneration 
Standard 

Investment Need £2,343m £3,366m £4,350m 

Resources Available £1,602m £1,599m £1,599m 

Resource Gap £741m £1,767m £2,751m 

Borrowing cost to cover gap £327m £1,099m £2,035m 

Average Annual Revenue Cost £10.9m £36.6m £67.8m 

 
 
3.3.3 This table shows that, based on expected resources and without any reform to the HRA 

funding mechanisms, there will be a shortfall of £741m in resources to maintain the decent 
homes standard over the 30 year period. If the Council is to meet the aspirations of its 
tenants for higher standards, then the resourcing gap increases to £1.767bn for decency 
plus and £2.751bn for a regeneration standard. 

 
3.3.4 After 2010/11, government support to achieve the decent homes programme comes to an 

end, and thereafter capital resources for major repairs and improvements will fall 
significantly.  HRA Capital expenditure will, under the current arrangements, be funded from 
the usable proportion of Right to Buy (RTB) receipts, the Major Repairs Allowance, and 
revenue contributions to support capital outlay (RCCO).  Subject to the further 
announcement, capital resources will reduce to approximately £40m per annum.  

 
3.3.5 As a minimum the Council will meet its statutory obligations, such as Fire Safety prevention, 

and adaptations. It will aim to maintain the decent homes standard across the housing 
portfolio.  There remain particular urgent pressures to find solutions for Sheltered Housing, 
its non traditional and pre 1919 stock. 

Page 11



 
 
 
3.4.0 Financial Sustainability 

 

3.4.1 Following the successful inspection of the Leeds ALMOs in 2003 and 2004, the Council has 
drawn down funding under round 2 of the decency programme, which came in the form of 
Supplementary Credit Approval (SCA), based on an 8% interest rate for borrowing.  The 
Council’s actual consolidated rate of interest on borrowing is 4.6%, and it has therefore 
benefited from approximately £14m annual windfall funding which has been used by the 
ALMO’s to supplement their management fee. 

3.4.2 From 2011/12, the support for the borrowing will be commuted into the Council’s Capital 
Financing Requirement, funded at 4.6%, and therefore the windfall funding will cease.  
Without the additional funding all three ALMO Business Plans are projecting in year 
operating deficits, before the utilisation of resources.   

3.4.3 The table below identifies projected cash balances of the ALMO’s for the next three years to 
2012/13 as per their current business plans: 

 
 ALMO Cash Balances 2009/10 to 2012/13 
 

 
Organisation 

 
AVH 
£000 

 
ENEHL 
£000 

 
WNWHL 
£000 

 
TOTAL 
£000 

 
Cash Reserves at 31/3/2010 
 
SCA windfall (ends 2010/11 
 
In year projected surplus / (deficits): 
2010/11 
2011/12 
2012/13 
 
 
 
 
Planned expenditure (as per ALMO Business Plans) 

 

 
6,035 

 
   4,001 
 10,036 

 
 
(1,618) 
(1,768) 
(1,950) 

(5,336) 
 
 

(811) 
 
 
 

 
11,368 

 
   4,453 
 15,821 

 
 
(2,853) 
(2,184)
(2,327( 
(7,364) 

 
 

(1,793) 

 
14,352 

 
     5,054 
   19,406 

 
   
  (2,565) 
(2,203) 
(2,570) 

  (7,338) 
 
 

(4,100) 

 
31,755 

 
   13,508 
  45,263 

 
   
  (7,036) 
(6,155) 
(6,847) 

(20,038) 
 
 

(6,704) 
 
 
 

Sub Total 3,889 6,664 7,968 18,521 

 
Less minimum balance of £1m per ALMO 
 

 
(1,000) 

 
(1,000) 

 
(1,000) 

 
(3,000) 

Total – cash reserves at 31/3/2013 2,889 5,664 6,968 15,521 

 
 
3.4.4 The table identifies that the ALMO’s are currently working with in year operational deficits, 

which amounts to £20m over the three year period.  The ALMO’s cash reserves at 31st 
March 2010 amount to £31.7m, and if utilised over the three year period as per the business 
plans, to fund the structured deficits and one off planned expenditure, would reduce those 
cash reserves to £15.5m at the end of 2012/13. 

 
3.4.5 The Council requires that all ALMO’s provide appropriate provision within their balance 

sheet to address the calculated FRS17 liability which requires an organisation to account for 
retirement benefits when it is committed to them, even if the actual payment is at some 
point in the future.  Between March 2009 and March 2010, the ALMOs FRS17 liability 

Page 12



increased from £11.15m to £35.24m.  The table below shows that when this liability is 
compared to the overall level of cash reserves held at 31st March, 2010, there is an overall 
deficit of £3.49m.   
 
ALMO cash reserves and FRS17 liability at 31.3.2010 
 

Organisation Cash Reserves 
@ 31.3.2010 

£000 

FRS17 Liability 
@ 31.3.2010 

£000 

Net Reserves 
after FRS17 

Liability 
£000 

Memo:FRS17 
Liability @ 
31.3.2009 

£000 

AVH 6,035 (9,048) (3,013) (2,920) 

ENEHL 11,368 (19,510) (8,142) (4,733) 

WNWHL 14,352 (6,686) 7,666 (3,498) 

Total 31,755 (35,244) (3,489) (11,151) 

 
3.4.6 Additionally, the HRA business plan shows that by 2016/17 the HRA will be operating with 

reserves below the recommended level and that by 2019/20 the HRA will have no reserves.  
 
3.4.7 These calculations do not factor in any impact of the autumn public expenditure 

announcements or potential changes to the HRA subsidy system.  The management 
agreement with the ALMO’s, which was extended as part of the last review, comes to an 
end in 2012.  There will need to be a clear direction of travel regarding financial 
sustainability before any decision regarding further extensions can be made.   

 
 

 4.0 Governance  
 

4.01 The current governance arrangements provide for three ALMO Management Boards which 
are able to take independent decisions on matters delegated to them from the Council 
within the terms of the existing management agreements and the constitutions of the 
ALMOs. Below the ALMO Board are a number of Area Panels. The ALMO Boards delegate 
some responsibilities and resources to these Panels and receive feedback from the Panels 
on preferences for the future direction of services. 

 
4.0.2 There are no formal arrangements to provide the ALMOs with connectivity into the Council 

so that they can participate in the development of strategies and policies. Equally there are 
no formal arrangements by which the ALMOs can work collectively or with other locally 
based service providers from the Council. An example of this is the lack of formal 
arrangements for locality working with Area Management. 

 
4.0.3 These arrangements lead to a best endeavours approach to engagement with the Council’s 

strategic vision and plans and its locally based service providers, thereby losing the 
opportunity to influence and play a key role in the creation of improved, strong, healthy 
communities.   Independent decision making at ALMO Board level, without the overarching 
Council strategy and priorities, can lead to tensions between city aspirations and local 
decisions.  

  
4.2.0 Strengths and Weaknesses of the current model 
 
4.2.1 All three ALMOs have achieved a two star and promising prospects status under the Audit 

Commission’s inspection regime. The reports, together with the findings of other internal 
inspection reports and ALMO performance information have been used to develop further 
an overview of the strengths and weaknesses of the existing ALMO model.   

 
4.2.2 The key current strengths can be summarised as follows: 
 

• The arrangements enable the housing organisations to concentrate on their 
delivery role and the Council to take a strategic lead. 

Page 13



• The adoption of the ALMO model has enabled significant investment in the 
Council’s housing stock and the delivery of the government’s decent homes 
standard 

• ALMOs are responsive to local issues 

• There is an increased involvement of tenants in the decisions of the business 

• Overall performance has improved since 2002 

• Service standards have been agreed with tenants 

• Environmental standards on estates have improved 

• Tenant satisfaction is increasing 
 

 
4.2.3 The key weaknesses can be summarised as follows: 
 

• There is significant duplication across the three organisations especially in 
back office functions 

• Service standards and service priorities vary across the city 

• Contract Management/Asset Management and Investment planning are under 
developed 

• Overall governance and associated controls have not always been fully 
effective 

• Tension exists between city aspirations and local aspirations 

• Resources are spread thinly across three ALMOs 

• Performance varies across the city 

• There is a lack of joint working to reduce costs or deliver services more 
effectively  

 
4.2.4 Even though the Audit Commission will no longer regulate ALMOs, the focus of the review 

has been to build further on the identified strengths and address the weaknesses. 
 
5.0 Options Assessment  
 
5.0.1 Option Appraisal 
 
5.0.2 It is within the context outlined above that the investigation into the options for future 

investment needs for council housing in Leeds, as requested by the Executive Board has 
been undertaken. The review considered four options with a view to recommending the most 
feasible option that offers the best value for money to deliver the long term vision for council 
housing. The options are: 

 
1. Return the management of the stock to the Council  
2. Transfer the ownership of the stock to a Housing Association, created for the 

purpose of the transfer 
3. A mixed approach that could involve ALMOs, PFI, transfer and return to the Council 

parts of the stock. 
4. The continuation of an ALMO model 

 
5.1.0 The Process 
 
5.1.1 An initial option assessment has been made against the four options. Each option was 

tested against the following criteria: 

• the strategic fit to both the city wide and local objectives 

• governance arrangements 

• capacity to deliver strong services 

• financial viability from both revenue and capital perspectives. 

 
5.1.2 The work identified that the mixed approach was not really an option for the future 

management of council housing but more an approach to levering into the city further 
investment. 

 
Page 14



5.1.3 Leeds currently delivers its housing management service through a small scale mixed 
approach. The city has three ALMOs, one TMO, one PFI and bids for two further PFI 
schemes. The intention is to continue to develop this as part of the 30 year Investment Plan, 
whereby the Council will continue to make best use of any funding opportunities that present 
themselves. 

 
5.1.4 PFI will not deliver a solution for the whole stock but could continue to provide 

investment in parts of the city, subject to CLG providing funding for further bidding 
rounds. Therefore, PFI could and will form part of mixed approach to securing additional 
investment. 
 

5.1.5 Whilst this option will not resolve the shortfall in capital funding identified in the 30 year 
investment plan, the Council will continue to explore new funding opportunities as they arise. 

 
5.1.6 The findings for the other options are summarised below. 

 
5.2.0 Option 1 - Return the Management of the Stock to the Council 
 
5.2.1 Under this option the Council would terminate the existing contractual arrangements and 

take the Council House Management Service back in-house. There are examples, mostly in 
London, of where management of the stock has been returned to the Local Authority.  
However, it is important to note that most of those decisions do not appear to have been 
taken following any objective options appraisal.  

 
5.2.2 A fully costed option appraisal has not been undertaken for this option. A return to 

centralised management within the Council was not part of the previous government’s 
thinking and does not fit with the current government’s approach and is therefore unlikely to 
place the Authority well in relation to future opportunities. That said the benefits of this option 
are that savings could be made through the reduction in senior management positions and 
an alignment with Council objectives. 

 
5.2.3 The disadvantages of this option are that the benefits of operating single purpose 

organisations responsive to localities, with a clear focus on tenants and accountable for 
delegated functions would be put at significant risk.  Conversely, the day to day 
management of the housing stock would divert energy from the Council’s strategic capacity 
to address housing and regeneration needs across all tenures. 

 
5.2.4 In addition to the above disadvantages, the initial consultation that has been undertaken has 

shown that there is little demand for a return to delivery within the Council. 
5.2.5 This option will not resolve the shortfall in capital funding identified in the 30 year investment 

plan 
 
5.3.0 Option 2 - Full/Partial Stock transfer  
 
5.3.1 Housing stock transfer to a registered social landlord is a well established 

process that has previously delivered the highest level of investment when compared 
to the other available options. 

 
5.3.2 The value, or purchase price, of the housing stock is known as the tenanted 

market valuation (TMV) which is based upon 30 year projections of income from 
rents and service charges, together with spending on management, services, 
repairs, major works and improvements. These projections are then discounted 
to their net present values, reflecting the value of money over time, to give the 
final valuation. 

 
5.3.3 Transfer of the Leeds stock is not a viable option for Leeds because the TMV is negative. 

The Council would need to achieve a net capital receipt of £823m to enable its housing debt 
to be redeemed. The appraisal of this option shows that based on decent homes valuations, 
the TMV has a £2.074m negative value. This would require a substantial dowry from the 

Page 15



government for a whole stock transfer to succeed, as the investment and management cost 
over 30 years cannot be funded from rental income generated. 

 
5.3.4 This view, that stock transfer is not a viable option, is supported by the following: 

•  CLG funding for stock transfer dowries, known as gap funding, is no longer available 
and whole stock transfer would be unaffordable without it 

•  CLG grant for councils to repay the HRA debt is likely to be less generous in the 
future, particularly if the self financing proposals are implemented. 

 
5.3.5 Partial transfer could provide a solution for some of the Council’s housing stock 

but it should be noted that we believe the TMVs at individual ALMO level are also 
negative and would require dowries.   
 

5.3.6 Additional disadvantages are that the Council would lose strategic control over the use of 
the stock and would not be able to exercise any influence in the governance of the 
transferred organisation to ensure that policies and strategies match council priorities. 

 
5.4.0 Option 4 - The Continuation of the ALMO Model  
 
5.4.1 The ALMO model has delivered significant benefits to the city. The local focus brought 

about by management boards with tenant directors based in the locality has enabled 
decisions to be taken that directly benefit the locality.  As a result of this, satisfaction with 
services has increased significantly. The ALMO model has enabled the funding and delivery 
of the decent homes programme.  

 
5.4.2 Tenants satisfaction has increased with the ALMO model as they feel it is more responsive 

to their needs than was the case when the service was managed centrally. The Area Panels 
provide even more connection with communities.   Paragraph 4.2.2 describes the strengths 
of the current ALMO model in delivering these improvements, particularly in relation to 
locality management and responsiveness. 

 
5.4.3 The model does provide a strategic fit for the Council and does have the capacity to deliver 

services, with each ALMO rated as a good performer by the previous regulator, the Audit 
Commission. However, there are tensions around governance where the Council may 
favour a single approach to an issue and the ALMO Boards prefer local solutions. In 
addition the current ALMO model needs to find efficiencies to balance budgets. Like the 
other options the ALMO model will not resolve the shortfall in capital funding identified in the 
30 year investment plan.  

 
5.5.0 Conclusion of the Appraisal 
 
5.5.1 The assessment of the options recommended by the Executive Board has concluded that 

no future model offers a solution to the investment gap identified in the 30 year investment 
plan. There may be a solution, should the reform of the HRA take place, and once there is 
greater clarity on this a further funding review will be necessary.  

 
5.5.2 Of all the options, the ALMO model offers the Council the best strategic fit with its own 

corporate and local strategies.  Should HRA reform take place it will offer the opportunity for 
bridging the investment gap. However, the assessment has identified key weaknesses in the 
current model in respect of governance arrangements and future financial viability. These 
issues would need to be resolved by reforming the ALMO model in order to ensure 
sustainability. 

 
6.0.0 The Three ALMO Model 

 
6.0.1 The continuation of the three ALMO model offers numerous advantages.  With no disruption 

to front line service delivery, there would be continuity of service for the tenant and there 
should be no reduction in performance levels, avoiding the risk of a dip in performance and 
the additional cost to recover such a position. 

Page 16



6.0.2 The retention of the three ALMO model is particularly advantageous to the Council as it 
develops its strategies around locality working. There would be an existing organisation 
within localities that is recognised and which could easily participate in Council plans and 
take on the delivery of certain services where this is identified as beneficial.  However, it is 
not recommended that the current model is pursued without accompanying major reforms.  
Proposed reforms, to make a three ALMO mode workable, are set out below. 

6.1.0 A Strategic Governance Board  
 
6.1.1 A significant weakness in the current arrangements is the lack of a co-ordinated approach to 

the delivery of the services delegated to them amongst the ALMOs. This independent 
approach has in part been driven by the inspection regime of the Audit Commission. This 
has been particularly evidenced by the lack of a joined up approach to asset management 
and investment planning, the development of service standards, multiple Service Level 
Agreements with Council services, contract procurement and the management and terms 
and conditions of employees. The abolition of the current inspection regime offers a different 
approach with less emphasis on the ALMO’s standing alone. 

 
6.1.2 Another significant weakness has been the lack of an overall strategic approach in the 

delivery of services by the ALMOs. Much of this has been due to there not being any formal 
arrangements linking the ALMOs with the Council’s strategic arrangements, nor with other 
delivery structures such as Area Management. The result of this has been patchy 
engagement that has relied on best endeavours of individuals.  Any future model meets to 
address this issue. 
 

6.1.3 It is proposed to establish a new Strategic Governance  Board. The Board would not take on 
any existing powers currently placed with the Executive Board, nor would it directly manage 
local delivery of services. It is proposed that the Board would meet to agree key high level 
strategies to  ensure that there are joint approaches across the ALMOs on key issues. The 
ALMO Boards would remain responsible for the decisions relating to local service delivery. 
However, in so doing it would be expected that the Chairs of the Boards and their Chief 
Executives would work together to ensure that there was greater standardisation in the 
delivery of those services. 

 
6.1.4 This Board would also offer a formal arrangement through which the ALMOs would be able 

to meet with the Council to discuss the development of key Council strategies such as the 
Housing Strategy. 

 
6.1.5 This arrangement would better align the delivery of services but still allow the ALMOs to 

retain a locality focus concentrating on delivering a high quality service under agreed terms. 
In so doing this would remove the tension that has often existed between city aspirations 
and local independence. The independence would remain in the delivery but it would be in 
the context of agreed city wide objectives. 

 
6.1.6 An example of how this would work is in Investment Planning. Given that resources are to 

reduce, it will be important that a city wide investment plan is developed that is based on 
good quality asset management information that allows the informed prioritisation of  need in 
order to make best use of resources to maintain the asset condition. The new Strategic 
Governance Board will receive the intelligence and make a strategic decision on the 
distribution of resource across the city, based on the need identified from the data, rather 
than the formulaic approach operated at present. The ALMO Boards would then have 
responsibility for ensuring that the various programmes are delivered and that asset 
management systems are continuously updated with the results of those programmes. The 
Executive Board would continue to agree and monitor the capital programmes as it does 
now. 

 
6.1.7 A further example of the work that the new Strategic Governance Board would oversee is 

the harmonisation of terms and conditions. Since the creation of the ALMOs in 2003 there 
has been a move away from the terms and conditions as operated at the time by the Council 
and with which the staff were TUPE transferred. The changes made have not been uniform 

Page 17



across the ALMOs and have not always mirrored those changes introduced by the Council. 
The impact has been that a range of terms and conditions now exist which adds to the 
complexity of management arrangements and does not assist with the movement of staff 
between ALMOs or between ALMOs and the Council.  The Board would also be charged 
with negotiating single service level agreements with the Council, ensuring best practice 
across the city. 

 
6.1.8 The reform, to create the Strategic Governance Board, will require changes to the current 

management agreements and constitutions of the ALMOs. The management agreements 
and constitutions will need to be re worked in such a way that they make clear those 
responsibilities and functions that will be held jointly and those which will be solely for the 
individual ALMO. In addition, clear and precise terms of reference will need to be developed 
to ensure that its purpose is clearly understood and that decision making is transparent and 
can be tested against the terms of reference. 

 
6.1.9 The creation of this Board would also be accompanied by the making of more formal 

arrangements between the ALMOs and Area Management, local partnerships and the 
emerging locality working arrangements. In addition, it will be expected that the ALMO Chief 
Executives and the Council’s Strategic Landlord will work more closely together to ensure 
that services are better aligned. Some of this work has already started with a more formal 
connection between the ALMOs and Area Management Committees. 

 
6.2.0 A Shared Services Centre (SSC)  
 
6.2.1 A significant weakness of the existing model is the duplication of functions and processes 

across the ALMOs and the Council, which leads to inefficient use of resources. Under the 
current arrangements, the ALMOs each have their own back office functions which include, 
for example, HR, Finance, Governance Support and Asset Management. This has in part 
been developed in response to the approach of the Audit Commission in the regulation the 
ALMOs and their insistence that each organisation is independent of each other and the 
Council, leading to the duplication of services across the three companies. 

 
6.2.2 The Council also provides services from within the Strategic Landlord Group because they 

are not capable of being split amongst more than one ALMO. Examples of this are the 
administration of the advertising process in Choice Based Lettings and the procurement and 
administration of capital contracts. This split in processes is also inefficient and wasteful of 
resources. 

 
6.2.3 A solution which would make better use of resources, and would unify processes, is to 

centralise these types of services within a Shared Services Centre. This would enable a 
single back office function to be created, which in addition could, where appropriate, take 
on services paid for by the HRA currently provided by the Department.  A list of services 
which are proposed to be delivered from the SSC is set out below.  It is proposed that the 
strategic service centre is managed by a nominated Chief Executive and is accountable to 
the strategic body. 
   

Page 18



 
Shared Service Centre Proposal 

 

Corporate Support Operational Support Asset Management Support 

Finance Choice Based Lettings  Procurement 

HR 
Paralegal (possible 
secondment only) Contract Administration 

ICT Leasehold management Commercial Asset Management 

Service and Performance 
Standards Disrepair 

HRA assets – small land / 
gardens, misc prop leases 

Governance  Technical Monitoring 

Marketing  Contract Compliance 

Procurement  Contract Management 

Housing Applications 
Support Team (Strategic 
Role around Systems to 
remain at Leeds City 
Council) 

 Investment Planning 

 
 
6.2.4 An illustration of the advantages is in the area of asset management, procurement, contract 

administration, contract compliance and investment planning. There is evidence of 
weakness in the current arrangements in these areas, a major factor being that resources  
with the necessary skills and expertise are spread too thinly between the ALMOs and the 
Council, resulting in these vital functions being under developed and not as effective as they 
could be. A unified group within the SSC could develop a single approach to procurement, 
provide a skilled unit to administer revenue repairs and capital contracts, maximise the 
resources for scheme delivery and provide expertise in asset management and investment 
planning.  

 
6.2.5 The estimated recurring savings from the creation of a SSC are £1.6m per annum. This 

saving can be achieved by the reduction of 8 senior management posts, as a result of the 
removal of the duplication of support services, equating to £500k per annum, with a further 
41 posts saved in both operational and corporate support posts, providing the balance.  
Further savings are anticipated through the subsequent process reviews. One of the key 
areas for savings is efficiencies generated from procurement.  It is estimated that with a 
consistent approach to quality and cost across the city, for example within repairs and 
maintenance contract management,  the model should be able to deliver efficiencies of 
around 2.5% per annum over and above those that could be achieved by the ALMOs acting 
separately. On this basis this would deliver an efficiency of £3m over 2011/12 and 2012/13 
on the new contracts currently in procurement and due to commence on 1st April 2011.  

 
6.2.6 The Council also has a management agreement with a Tenant Management Organisation 

(TMO). Whilst the terms of this arrangement are different to those with the ALMOs, once the 
SSC is established, the TMO will be invited to explore the benefits this new approach can 
offer them.  

 
6.2.7 The benefits of this model can be summarised as follows: 

 
• The model retains a clear local focus 

• Service is responsive to community needs 

• Tenants remain influential in the decision making process 

• Continuity of service delivery 

• The Strategic Governance Board will remove the city versus local tension 

• Supports the Council’s vision of locality working 

• Offers savings of £1.6m from the creation of the SSC 
 

Page 19



7.0 One ALMO Model with a SSC 

7.0.1 The option to develop a single ALMO solution has a number of attractions.   Arguably the 
model allows both objectives of strategic overview and efficiency to be achieved with 
greater clarity.  The creation of a single board would deal simply with the issues the 
Strategic Board under the previous option are designed to deal with.  Similarly the move 
towards a single organisation, under a single Chief Executive, would enable  efficiencies to 
be delivered through a centralisation of functions.     

7.0.2 In addition to the savings offered through the centralisation of support functions, the model 
would reduce the existing number of JNC posts by 8 in total. 2 Chief Executive posts would 
be lost along with 6 senior management posts. In effect this would remove two of the 3 
ALMO senior management teams. This would create a saving of £664k. However, these 
savings are likely to be offset in part by a need to strengthen local management as a result 
of the enlarged organisation. This cost is estimated at £214k, resulting in a net saving of 
£450k.  It is estimated that together with the centralisation of support function this option 
would save around £2.05m. 

7.0.3 Although these are powerful arguments in favour, there are, nevertheless, considerable 
disadvantages to pursuing the single ALMO option.  A move to a one ALMO model would 
involve significant upheaval to the current delivery arrangements and would risk a dip in 
service delivery as experienced after the 2006/7 review, which took the number of ALMOs 
from six to three.  A third major reorganisation in 8 years will in itself be costly. A shift to a 
single ALMO would almost certainly alienate the many Board members and tenants who 
have contributed to the ALMOs over the years and undermine attempts at future 
engagement. Tenants may also view this move as similar to going back to the Council, with 
decision making becoming centralised and therefore remote and unresponsive to their 
needs in their localities. In order to overcome this it is likely that the role of Area Panels 
would need to be strengthened in order to retain a local focus, which in itself could lead to 
complicated governance. The remoteness of decision making could also make ALMO 
engagement in the Council’s move to locality working more complex.    

7.0.4  The benefits of this model can be summarised as follows: 

 

• A single Board 

• City wide standards 

• Offers savings of £2.05m 

• A single relationship with the Council 

• Could retains a local focus through strengthened Area Panels 
 

 
7.0.6 The risks associated with this model can be summarized as follows: 
 

• Board becomes remote 

• Tenants see this option as removing local focus 

• High set up costs and risk of a performance dip in front line services during 
change 

• The size of the organisation risks it becoming unresponsive to local needs 

• It would be by far the largest ALMO in the country. 

• Strengthened role for Area Panels could lead to tensions with the Board 
 

 
 
8.0  Conclusion 
 
8.0.1 Neither of the models will deliver the shortfall in capital funding identified in the 30 year 

investment plan. However, both models are capable of improving on the key weaknesses 
identified in the operation of the current model. In determining whether a three ALMO model 

Page 20



or a single ALMO model is best, a judgement has to be made as to the benefits of taking 
additional savings with the single ALMO, against the benefits of continuity and localism 
offered by three. 

.   
8.0.2 The single ALMO model can deliver additional savings of £450k per annum through the 

reduction in senior management. However, against that Executive Board has to weigh the 
risks of a single Board becoming remote and tenants’ concerns that the organisation no 
longer responds to local needs. The model would not offer the best support to the Council’s 
strategy of locality working.  The reform would cause upheaval which would be costly to 
implement, may damage service in the short to medium term and undermine the 
considerable efforts of tenants and boards who operate the current model. 

 
8.0.3 It is when considering these issues that on balance it is felt that the three ALMO model is 

the best option, as it offers stability of service and retention of a locality focus. Tenants will 
have no concerns about their involvement in decision making. It is important, however, that 
the reforms proposed are made to rectify the key weaknesses with the current model and 
deliver annual savings of £1.6m.   

 
8.0.4 Subject to agreement on the model, it is proposed to make some minor changes to the 

ALMO boundaries, so that they align with the ward boundary changes which were made in 
2004.  This will assist ward Members and locality working arrangements. 

 
9.0 Consultation 
 
9.0.1 Consultation commenced with two events for all ALMO Board members at which they were 

invited to identify the strengths and weaknesses of the current ALMO model and make 
suggestions as to how to make improvements. The outcomes from these events were fed in 
to the context of the review. More specifically four core “business principles” were agreed. 
They were that any changes should be capable of: 

 

• Sustaining and improving the recent capital investment  

• Meeting tenants aspirations for the quality of service delivery 

• Staying Local 

• Maintaining and increasing tenant empowerment and involvement 
 
9.0.2 A project board was set up that comprised of the ALMO Chairs, one other ALMO Board 

member, BITMO Chair, ALMO Chief Executives and BITMO Chief Executive. This Board 
was chaired by the Chief Housing Services Officer. The role of the Board was to make 
decisions as the project moved forward so as to ensure that the ALMOs were fully engaged 
with the process. 

 
9.0.3  Latterly, officers have visited the three Boards for a final discussion on the proposals 

contained within this report. Specific feedback has been received as follows 
 
 ENE 
 

• The Board are supportive of the proposals to retain three ALMOs with the proposed 
reforms 

• The approach is seen as the best way to continue to improve performance and 
services to tenants 

• The Board would welcome further dialogue on the development of the reforms  
 
 
WNW 
 

• Whilst the Board has not made a formal recommendation, the general opinion of the 
Board was that a three ALMO option with the proposed reforms was the preferred 
option. 

Page 21



• The Board would welcome the opportunity of a continued dialogue on the 
development of the new model  

• The Board supports the Council to drive further value for money efficiencies and 
consistent services to achieve excellent standards of service 

• The Board is extremely keen to retain a strong locality focus and for this to continue  
through maintenance of local governance arrangements 

• The Board felt it essential that tenants are consulted on any major changes 
connected to the review. 

 
AVH 
 

• The Board are supportive of the proposals to retain three ALMOs with the proposed 
reforms 

• The Board viewed the proposals as an opportunity for the ALMOs and the Council 
to work together in a more collaborative manner 

• The Board were keen to see clear terms of reference for the Strategic Governance 
Board to ensure that there were transparent evidence based decisions 

 
10.0 Financial Reforms 

10.1 The requirement that the ALMO’s earmark sufficient reserves to cash back the FRS17 
liability is premised on the possibility that at some point in the future the Council’s housing 
stock, following an option appraisal, could be transferred to another Registered Social 
Landlord (RSL). Such an organisation would be unwilling to take on the FRS17 liability 
unless there was a corresponding transfer of resources equivalent to the liability. Therefore, 
if there were insufficient resources available in ALMO reserves to meet the accumulated net 
pension liabilities when Council housing stock transferred, then the Council, acting as 
guarantor, would be required to fund the difference. 

 
10.2 The effect of this requirement to make provision has seen the need to tie up £31.5m of cash 

reserves. The reforms proposed below allow for this money to be released so that it can be 
used to sustain the ALMO business plans over the next three years and allow the Council to 
determine how to allocate the remaining resources in line with strategic priorities.  

 
10.3 The previous Government’s recent consultation paper on the reform of the HRA suggests  

that overhanging debt will be left with an Authority after the transfer of its housing stock, 
making the transfer of housing stock not financially viable, as the Council would be left 
having to resource residual housing debt but without a revenue stream to fund this. 
Therefore the requirement to completely cash back the net pension liability in ALMOs is less 
of a requirement since transfer of the housing stock to an RSL is not a financially viable 
option at the present time. 

 
10.4  The 2009/2010 cash position has been projected forward to March 2013 i.e. the end of the 

current contract between the ALMOs and the Council for the management of the Council’s 
housing stock. This projected position is summarised in the table below. 

Page 22



 

Organisation Cash Reserves @ 
31.3.2010* 
 
 
£000 

Projected Cash 
Reserves @  
31.3 2013 
 
£000 

Projected Cash 
Reserves @  
31.3.2013 (net of 
FRS17 Liability) 
£000 

AVHL 5,035 2,889 (6,159) 

ENEHL 10,368 5,664 (13,846) 

WNWHL 13,352 6,968 282 

Total 28,755 15,521 (19,723) 

* NB - cash reserves in the table above are net of the £1m working balance that the Council requires 
each ALMO to retain.  
 

As the table above shows, it is projected that cash reserves held by the ALMOs will have 
reduced by £13.234m from 31st March 2010 to 31st March 2013 (i.e. from £28.755 m to 
£15.521m). This takes into account the projected surpluses, deficits and commitments for 
the use of resources as identified in the ALMOs latest Business Plans. 

 
10.5 Given this, it is considered appropriate that the Council acts as guarantor to the ALMOs net 

pension liabilities held within the West Yorkshire Pension Fund.  This effectively means that 
if the ALMOs are not able to continue to pay the required contributions to the pension fund 
then the Council would be liable for any shortfall. This would be consistent with the 
approach taken on other Council companies such as Education Leeds and the Grand 
Theatre. It is also consistent with the approach taken by other Local Authorities with 
ALMOs. As a consequence of this guarantee, the ALMOs would no longer be required to 
set aside their reserves to cover future pension liabilities. Under this guarantee, the ALMO 
reserves would be sufficient to meet their identified business requirements as reflected in 
their current Business Plans, and allow the balance of ALMO cash reserves to be 
transferred to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) to reflect the fact that the HRA (i.e. the 
Council) is taking on the responsibility for guaranteeing the FRS17 liability. 

 
10.6 Whilst the ALMO business plans show significant deficits between now and 2013 they will 

remain sustainable until 2013 with the use of usable cash reserves made available.   This 
allows the recurring savings to be generated from the delivery model proposals contained in 
this report, together with existing cashable efficiency plans already identified by the ALMO’s 
to be generated over the period to April 2013, to achieve financial sustainability from annual 
resources. 

10.7 Following the outcome of decisions relating to the reform of the HRA, it will be necessary to 
review the funding arrangements for the ALMOs and the TMO in the light of the reform and 
an assessment of needs. 

11.0  Implications For Council Policy And Governance 

11.1 The creation of a Strategic Governance Board will make a difference to current governance 
arrangements. The Strategic Governance Board will have responsibility for setting the 
strategic framework within which the ALMOs will operate. The ALMO Boards will continue to 
manage decisions within their areas but in accordance with the strategic decisions. 

11.2 The creation of the Strategic Governance Board will not affect the Council’s Executive 
Board in relation to the delegated responsibilities to the ALMOs. 

11.3 There have been initial discussions with the Council’s legal services department and these 
will continue as the Strategic Board is established. 

Page 23



 

12.0 Legal And Resource Implications 

12.1 A key lesson learnt from the move from six to three ALMOs was that the project 
implementation needs to be carefully planned and phased so as to see a smooth transition 
and to offset dips in performance. 

 
12.2 It is proposed to begin this process after the decision of the Executive Board with a phased 

implementation from 1st April 2011.  
 
13.0 Conclusions 
 
13.1 The appraisal of organisational options to deliver future investment need in the city’s 

housing stock has concluded that none of the appraised solutions can deliver the required 
investment. HRA reform may assist the city in meeting its investment need but the detail of 
the proposals still has to be made clear. 

 
13.2 Given this position, the appraisal has concentrated on the arrangements most likely to 

deliver the best services to tenants and which align with the Council’s broad objectives. It is 
recommended that the 3 ALMO model should remain subject to the implementation of key 
reforms, notably the introduction of a Strategic Governance Board and a Shared Service 
entre. These reforms will tackle some of the key weaknesses of the current model by 
improving the strategic decision making and bringing about efficiencies and consistent 
processes in the back office and support functions without affecting front line services. 

 
14.0 Recommendations 

 
14.1 The Executive Board is asked to agree the following recommendations: 
 
14.2  to support the continuation of the three ALMO model  
 
14.3 to agree the establishment of the Strategic Governance Board and a Shared Services 

Centre as set out in this report. 
 
14.4 to agree to revisions of the Management Agreements and constitutions of the ALMOs to 

reflect the role of the Strategic Board. 
 
14.5 to phase the implementation from 1st April 2011, with work beginning immediately on the 

change programme. 
 
14.6 to agree to the proposals for the future arrangements of the provision of FRS17 in relation to 

the ALMOs. 
 
14.7 to transfer ALMO cash reserves not identified to be used to sustain their business plans to 

the HRA. 
 
14.8  to require the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods, together with the ALMO Chief 

Executives, to bring a report back to the March 2011 Executive Board, outlining progress 
towards implementation of the above recommendations and the savings both achieved and 
planned. 

 

 

Background Papers 

Executive Board Report – January 2009 

  

Page 24



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 8th December, 2010 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 3RD NOVEMBER, 2010 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor K Wakefield in the Chair 

 Councillors A Blackburn, J Blake, A Carter, 
S Golton, P Gruen, R Lewis, T Murray, 
A Ogilvie and L Yeadon 

 
   Councillor J Dowson – Non-voting Advisory Member 
 
 
98 Declaration of Interests Councillors A Carter, Golton, Murray, Ogilvie, 

R Lewis and Blake all declared personal interests in the item relating to 
the future of Council Housing (Minute No. 111 refers), due to their 
respective positions as either a Board Director or an Area Panel 
member of an Arms Length Management Organisation (ALMO) or 
Belle Isle Tenant Management Organisation (BITMO). 

 
A further declaration of interest was made at a later point in the 
meeting. (Minute No. 111 refers). 

 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING 
 

111   Future of Council Housing  
 
Further to Minute No. 168, 14th January 2009, the Director of Environment 
and Neighbourhoods submitted a report providing details of the outcomes 
from the Future of Council Housing Review, making recommendations both in 
relation to key reforms to the current system and also regarding a preferred 
model for Council house provision in Leeds, in addition to outlining proposals 
regarding a change in relationship between the Council and the ALMOs, with 
regard to pension liabilities. 
 
With regard to the long term vision for the management of council housing 
provision in Leeds, the following options were outlined within the submitted 
report:- 

1. Returning the management of the stock to the Council;  
2. Transferring the ownership of the stock to a Housing Association, 

created for the purpose of the transfer; 
3. A mixed approach which could involve ALMOs, PFI, transfer and 

return to the Council parts of the stock; 
4. The continuation of an ALMO model. 

 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the continuation of the three ALMO model be supported.  
 
(b) That the establishment of the Strategic Governance Board and a 

Shared Services Centre, as set out within the submitted report, be 

Page 25



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 8th December, 2010 

 

agreed, subject to the addition of the Chair and the Chief Executive of 
Belle Isle Tenant Management Organisation (BITMO) to the 
membership of the Strategic Governance Board. 

 
(c) That the revisions to the Management Agreements and constitutions 

of the ALMOs, in order to reflect the role of the Strategic Board, be 
agreed. 

 
(d) That approval be given to phased implementation from 1st April 2011, 

with work beginning immediately on the change programme. 
 
(e) That the proposals for the future arrangements regarding the 

provision of FRS17 in relation to the ALMOs be agreed. 
 
(f) That the transfer of ALMO cash reserves not identified to be used to 

sustain their business plans to the Housing Revenue Account be 
agreed. 

 
(g)  That the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods together with 

the ALMO Chief Executives, be required to bring a report back to the 
March 2011 Executive Board, outlining the progress towards 
implementation of the above recommendations and the savings both 
achieved and planned. 

 
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute). 
 
(Councillor A Blackburn declared a personal interest in this item, due to her 
position as a Director of West North West Leeds Homes ALMO) 
 
 
DATE OF PUBLICATION:  5TH NOVEMBER 2010 
 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN 
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS: 12TH NOVEMBER 2010  (5.00 P.M.) 
 
(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items called in by 12.00noon on 
15th November 2010). 
 
 
 
 

Page 26


	Agenda
	6 Call - In of Decision - Briefing Paper
	7 Call - In - The Future of Council Housing
	12-November-2010
	Future of Council Housing Report 251010
	$$Minutes


